
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

 
 

 
No. ______________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT 

 
 
 
 Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 8, Plaintiffs Katherine Strauch Sullivan and David Morsberger, 

by and through undersigned counsel, state and allege as follows: 

 

 

KATHERINE STRAUCH SULLIVAN, an 
individual residing at 11105 Old Carriage Rd, Glen 
Arm, MD 21057; and DAVID MORSBERGER, an 
individual residing at 1241 Village Lake Dr, 
Davidsonville, MD 20135, 
 

Plaintiffs,  
v. 
 
MICHAEL G. SUMMERS, in his official capacity 
as the Chairman of the Maryland State Board of 
Elections, 151 West Street, Suite 200, Annapolis, 
Anne Arundel County, Maryland; WILLIAM G. 
VOELP, in his official capacity as the Vice 
Chairman of the Maryland State Board of Elections, 
151 West Street, Suite 200, Annapolis, Anne 
Arundel County, Maryland; JANET 
MILLENSON, in her official capacity as a member 
of the Maryland State Board of Elections, 151 West 
Street, Suite 200, Annapolis, Anne Arundel 
County, Maryland; YAAKOV WEISSMANN, in 
his official capacity as a member of the Maryland 
State Board of Elections, 151 West Street, Suite 
200, Annapolis, Anne Arundel County, Maryland; 
and JARED DEMARINIS, in his official capacity 
as the Maryland State Administrator of Elections, 
151 West Street, Suite 200, Annapolis, Anne 
Arundel County, Maryland, 
 

Defendants. 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Citizen engagement in the democratic processes has been the cornerstone of the 

American political experiment since its founding. That engagement, of course, manifests itself in 

voting. But it extends far beyond that. Citizens also volunteer their time as poll workers and 

election observers. And, as Plaintiffs do, they use their spare time, scarce resources, and statutory 

rights to assess the extent to which taxpayer-funded officials are fulfilling their duties to administer 

free, fair, and efficient elections. 

2. In particular, Plaintiffs are citizens concerned that Maryland election officials have 

placed the integrity of the state’s elections at risk by failing to fulfil their obligations under state 

and federal law to maintain accurate and up-to-date voter registration records. 

3. Their concerns are well-founded. In an October 2023 report, the Maryland General 

Assembly’s Office of Legislative Audits found numerous deficiencies and vulnerabilities in the 

list maintenance practices of the Maryland State Board of Elections (SBE), including 2,426 

apparent instances in which a deceased individual was associated with an active voter registration, 

and up to 327 potentially duplicative voter registrations. More broadly, the report concluded that 

the SBE had failed to consistently refer apparent incidents of unlawful voting activities to 

prosecutorial authorities, take a comprehensive approach to identifying deceased or duplicate 

voters, and adequately ensure that local boards of election regularly correct errors in voter 

registration records.  See Office of Legislative Audits, Audit Report: State Board of Elections (Oct. 

2023), available at https://www.marylandmatters.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/SBE23.pdf 

(last accessed Dec. 27, 2023).  

4. Plaintiffs seek to address their concerns by working to identify inaccuracies in the 

state’s voter registration records. They first request, and until recently regularly have received, 
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registration and other official records to which they are entitled under federal and state law. They 

then canvass Maryland neighborhoods door-to-door to try to verify the accuracy of information in 

those records, including the validity of addresses, residency representations, and voter histories.   

5. In doing this work, Plaintiffs have never been found to have violated any law, state 

or federal, civil or criminal.  

6. Plaintiffs’ door-to-door efforts have deep roots in the American tradition. They are 

protected by the First Amendment of the Constitution.  See e.g., Watchtower Bible & Tract Soc. 

of NY, Inc. v. Village of Stratton, 536 U.S. 150, 160-61 & n.10 (2002) (describing the tradition and 

collecting cases).  And they are protected by both federal and state law.   

7. As for federal law, the National Voter Registration Act of 1993, 52 U.S.C. § 20501, 

et seq. (“NVRA”), expressly aims to “protect the integrity of the electoral process” and “ensure 

that accurate and current voter registration rolls are maintained.”  52 U.S.C. § 20501(b)(3)-(4). In 

furtherance of this purpose, Congress afforded citizens a privately enforceable right to access “all 

records concerning the implementation of programs and activities conducted for the purpose of 

ensuring the accuracy and currency of official lists of eligible voters,” 52 U.S.C. § 20507(i)(1), 

subject to narrow exceptions not relevant here. 

8. Congress granted citizens access to these records to, among other reasons, ensure 

that people could evaluate for themselves whether election officials are fulfilling the NVRA’s 

important mandates. And Congress’s choice has been repeatedly vindicated over the years, as 

private citizens and organizations around the country have used the information obtained through 

the NVRA to establish, in court, numerous instances of states and localities failing to fulfill their 

statutory obligation under the NVRA. As a result of such lawsuits, courts have found and remedied 

failures to properly maintain their registration rolls and to remove from them persons no longer 
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eligible to vote, unlawful registration cancellations, and failures to properly offer voter registration 

opportunities at DMVs and other designated agencies.    

9. As for state law, Maryland Election Law allows Plaintiffs to use the voter 

registration records to which they are entitled under the NVRA for purposes “related to the 

electoral process.”  Maryland Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii).   

10. In violation of these constitutional and statutory rights, the SBE has sought to shut 

down Plaintiffs’ citizen advocacy work and oversight of its operations. It has done this by adopting 

a regulation that categorically prohibits the use of voter registration records for “investigations,” a 

term it defines to consist of or include “contact[ing] an individual voter as part of an investigation 

into an illegal or suspected illegal infraction or violation involving the voter’s behavior in a specific 

election.” And to implement this regulation, the SBE further requires requestors of voter lists, as 

a condition of receiving the information to which they are entitled by law, to execute a sworn 

affidavit agreeing that they will not use the information to conduct any such investigations.  Code 

of Md. Regulations (“COMAR”) 33.03.02.01(B)(1)(c), 33.03.02.04(A) (collectively, hereafter, the 

“Use Restriction”). 

11. The Use Restriction is invalid and its enforcement must be enjoined for three 

independent reasons. 

12. First, the Use Restriction obstructs Congress’s objective of allowing citizens to use 

voter registration records to investigate and verify their accuracy and currency. Accordingly, it is 

preempted by the NVRA.   

13. Second, by apparently prohibiting the use of voter lists only for certain types of 

“investigations” based on a canvasser’s message or public policy objective, the Use Restriction 
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discriminates on the basis of viewpoint in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments, and 

is not justified by any countervailing state interests.  Accordingly, it is unconstitutional. 

14. Finally, the SBE is not statutorily empowered to adopt the Use Restriction, and, 

even if it were, the Use Restriction is inconsistent with Maryland Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii), 

which allows Plaintiffs to use voter registration records for investigations that are “related to the 

electoral process.”  Accordingly, it is contrary to state law. 

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

15.  The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 over 

Plaintiffs’ claims under the NVRA and the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 

Constitution because those claims arise under the Constitution or laws of the United States.  In 

addition, the Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claim under the NVRA pursuant 

to 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b).   

16. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) over 

Plaintiffs’ claims that are predicated on Maryland state law because those claims are so related to 

Plaintiffs’ claims arising out of federal law that they form part of the same case or controversy.  

17. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (b)(2) because 

the Defendants all reside in the State of Maryland and because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in the District of Maryland.   

18. The Northern Division is the appropriate forum for this action pursuant to Local 

Rule 501(4)(a)(ii) because the non-governmental parties reside in that division.   

PARTIES 

19. Plaintiff Katherine Strauch Sullivan is an individual, and a resident and registered 

voter of the State of Maryland. 
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20. Plaintiff David Morsberger is an individual, and a resident and registered voter of 

the State of Maryland. 

21. The Maryland State Board of Elections is an agency of the State of Maryland, and 

is required by law to “manage and supervise elections in the State and ensure compliance with the 

requirements of . . . any applicable federal law by all persons involved in the elections process.”  

Md. Election Law § 2-102(a). 

22. Defendant Michael G. Summers is the Chairman of the SBE and is named in this 

action in his official capacity only. 

23. Defendant William G. Voelp is the Vice Chairman of the SBE and is named in this 

action in his official capacity only. 

24. Defendant Janet Millenson is a member of the SBE and is named in this action in 

her official capacity only. 

25. Defendant Yaakov Weissmann is a member of the SBE and is named in this action 

in his official capacity only. 

26. Defendant Jared DeMarinis is the Maryland State Administrator of Elections and 

is named in this action in his official capacity only.  The State Administrator is “the chief State 

election official” of the State of Maryland and has been designated by state law as the “chief State 

election official … responsible for coordination of State responsibilities under” the NVRA.  See 

Md. Election Law § 2-103(b)(8); 52 U.S.C. § 20509.   
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

27. Maryland law allows any person to obtain a copy of the list of registered voters 

from either the SBE or their local board of elections.  See Md. Election Law § 3-506. 1 

28. As a condition of accessing the voter list, a requestor must provide “a statement, 

signed under oath, that the list is not intended to be used for: 1. Commercial solicitation; or 2. Any 

other purpose not related to the electoral process.”  Md. Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii). 

29. Any person “who knowingly allows a list of registered voters, under the person’s 

control, to be used for any purpose not related to the electoral process is guilty of a misdemeanor.”  

Id. § 3-506(c).   

30. Maryland regulations require requesters to complete and submit a form as a 

condition precedent to obtaining a voter list. The regulation prescribes a pre-printed affidavit that 

is substantially in the following form: 

Under the penalties of perjury, I declare that no part of any list requested by this 
application is intended to be used for commercial solicitation or for any other 
purpose that is not related to the electoral process. 
 
I am aware that if I or any other person who has a registration list under his or her 
control knowingly allows any part of that list to be used for commercial solicitation 
or for any other purpose that is not related to the electoral process, that individual 
is guilty of a misdemeanor and, on conviction, subject to imprisonment for not less 
than 30 days or more than 6 months, to a fine of up to $250, or to both imprisonment 
and fine. 
 

COMAR 33.03.02.04(A).   

31. The SBE is empowered by statute to adopt regulations governing certain 

enumerated facets of the list disclosure process, specifically: (a) the time in which a list must be 

 
1 Although the statute purports to limit access only to Maryland registered voters, this Court 
previously found that limitation preempted by the NVRA.  See Jud. Watch, Inc. v. Lamone, 399 F. 
Supp. 3d 425 (D. Md. 2019).   
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provided, (b) required authorizations that must precede issuance of a list, (c) fees to be paid by 

requestors, (d) the types of information to be included on a list, (e) restrictions on the release of 

certain registrants’ residential addresses, (f) the format of information included in a list, and (g) 

the medium or media on which list information is provided.  See id. § 3-506(a)(2).   

32. On or around June 20, 2023, the SBE adopted the Use Restriction, which amends 

COMAR 33.03.02.01(B)(1) and purports to define the term “electoral process” as follows:   

(a) “Electoral process” means the system established by the Maryland Constitution, 
Election Law Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, and regulations of the State 
Board, by which a person is elected to a public office or by which voters express a 
preference on a ballot question. 

 
(b) “Electoral process” includes, but is not limited to registering voters, forming 
political parties, qualifying as a candidate for public office, petitioning candidates 
or questions to the ballot, drafting and publishing ballot questions, conducting 
elections, casting ballots, canvassing ballots, recounting an election, and financing 
a campaign. 
 
(c) “Electoral process” does not include investigations. The use of a voter 
registration list to contact an individual voter as part of an investigation into an 
illegal or suspected illegal infraction or violation involving the voter’s behavior in 
a specific election is not a “purpose... related to the electoral process” as those terms 
are used in Election Law Article, § 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2), Annotated Code of 
Maryland. 
 
33. Upon information and belief, prior to approximately June 2023, the SBE had never 

previously purported to define the statutory term “electoral process.”   

34. Concomitant with its adoption of the Use Restriction, the SBE also modified the 

pre-printed affidavit contained on the voter list request form to include an averment that the 

requestor will use the data only for “activities that meet the definition of ‘electoral process’ as 

defined in COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1),” and not “for investigations into an illegal or suspected 

illegal infractions or violations of voters’ behaviors [sic] in a specific election.”  The SBE did not, 

however, amend the provision of the COMAR that specifies the content of the affidavit form.   
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35. In approximately October 2023, the SBE revised the affidavit, reverting to the form 

in use prior to the enactment of the Use Restriction. Upon information and belief, this was done in 

an effort to conform the form to the unamended provision of the COMAR that specifies the content 

of the affidavit. But the form remains inconsistent with that provision because the SBE added an 

asterisk adjacent to the phrase “electoral process.” The asterisk corresponds to the following 

statement added to the footer of the form:  

As defined in COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) “electoral process” means the system 
established by the Maryland Constitution, Election Law Article, Annotated Code 
of Maryland, and regulations of the State Board, by which a person is elected to a 
public office or by which voters express a preference on a ballot question. 
“Electoral process” includes, but is not limited to, using data to register voters, form 
a political party, qualify as a candidate for public office, circulate a petition, 
conduct elections and recount, cast and count ballots, and finance a campaign. 
“Electoral process” does not include investigations into illegal or suspected illegal 
infractions or violations of voters’ behaviors in a specific election  

 
36. A true and correct copy of what is, upon information and belief, the current voter 

list request form promulgated by the SBE is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.   

37. Each of the Plaintiffs had, prior to the SBE’s adoption of the Use Restriction, 

periodically requested and obtained copies of Maryland voter lists.   

38. Prior to the Use Restriction’s adoption, both Plaintiffs used data contained in voter 

lists for non-commercial and unpaid volunteer activities, to include investigations of the accuracy 

and currency of the State’s voter registration rolls.  

39. In the course of conducting these investigatory activities, the Plaintiffs have 

contacted individual voters in an attempt to verify information contained in registration or other 

official election records.  In a typical canvassing project, the Plaintiffs would analyze registration 

or voting records obtained from the SBE or a local board of election, identify potential anomalies 
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or inaccuracies, and contact (usually by going door-to-door and in compliance with all applicable 

laws) voters to cross-check the official data.   

40. For example, Plaintiffs’ analysis of voting records in early 2023 indicated that a 

relatively large number of registered voters who previously had never or only rarely voted 

nevertheless ostensibly cast ballots in the 2020 election.  Upon being contacted by Plaintiff 

Sullivan during canvassing, approximately twenty individuals stated that they had not, in fact, 

voted in that election, a discrepancy that evidences potential inaccuracies in the State’s voting 

records.  These findings are consistent with the Maryland General Assembly’s Office of 

Legislative Affairs audit findings. See supra ¶ 3. 

41. In the course of conducting their investigatory canvassing activities, the Plaintiffs 

have never, directly or indirectly, used force, fraud, threat, menace, intimidation, bribery, reward, 

or offer of reward in connection with any person’s registration or voting decisions or activities, 

and do not intend to engage in any such conduct in the future.  

42. In the course of conducting their investigatory canvassing activities, the Plaintiffs 

have never persisted in contacting a voter who indicated that he or she did not wish to communicate 

with the Plaintiffs, and do not intend to do so in the future.   

43. Plaintiffs have neither used voter registration records for any commercial purpose 

nor transferred such records to any third party for commercial uses, and do not intend to do so in 

the future.   

44. On or around September 21, 2023, Plaintiff Morsberger submitted to the SBE a 

completed request for a statewide voter registration list.  Before executing the request form, 

however, Plaintiff Morsberger crossed-out the averment in the affidavit acknowledging the Use 
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Restriction’s prohibition on using voter registration records for investigatory purposes.  The SBE 

refused to accept the completed request form with the interlineation.   

45. On or around September 25, 2023, Plaintiff Sullivan inquired of the Baltimore 

County Board of Elections how to obtain a voter registration list.  The Baltimore County Board of 

Elections responded on September 26, 2023, that Plaintiff Sullivan must submit a request form 

that includes an affidavit averring that she would use the registration information only for 

“activities that meet the definition of ‘electoral process’ as defined in [the Use Restriction].”   

46. On September 27, 2023, the Plaintiffs, through counsel, transmitted to all the 

Defendants a notice letter detailing the Plaintiffs’ position that the Use Restriction violates Section 

8(i) of the NVRA and alerting the SBE to its procedural and substantive violations of Maryland 

state law.  A true and correct copy of the notice letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

47. Although the SBE subsequently revised the form of the affidavit in an apparent 

attempt to conform more closely to the underlying regulation, requestors still are required to 

provide a sworn statement that they will not use voter lists for any purpose that the Use Restriction 

prohibits.  Further, even in the absence of a mandatory affidavit, any requestor who uses voter lists 

in a manner inconsistent with the Use Restriction’s definition of “electoral process” remains 

subject to criminal prosecution under Md. Election Law § 3-506(c).   

48. The SBE accordingly has not taken actions sufficient to remedy the Use 

Restriction’s violation of Section 8(i) of the NVRA.   

49. As a direct and proximate result of the Use Restriction, the Plaintiffs can no longer 

obtain new voter lists for up-to-date investigatory canvassing activities that may entail direct 

communication with voters because they cannot truthfully submit the required affidavit and, in 

any event, reasonably fear prosecution under Md. Election Law § 3-506(c) for using voter 
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registration lists for purposes that are not related to the “electoral process,” as the term is defined 

in the Use Restriction.   

50. If and to the extent the Use Restriction is repealed or determined by this Court not 

to apply to Plaintiffs’ investigatory canvassing activities, Plaintiffs intend to resume requesting 

and obtaining voter lists for use in such activities.   

COUNT I 
Violation of Section 8(i) of the NVRA (52 U.S.C. § 20507(i)) 

 
51. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

52. Section 8(i) of the NVRA requires every State to make available to the public “all 

records concerning the implementation of programs and activities conducted for the purpose of 

ensuring the accuracy and currency of official lists of eligible voters, except to the extent that such 

records relate to a declination to register to vote or to the identity of a voter registration agency 

through which any particular voter is registered.”  52 U.S.C. § 20507(i). 

53. Among Congress’ purposes in enacting the NVRA, including Section 8(i), were “to 

protect the integrity of the electoral process” and “to ensure that accurate and current voter 

registration rolls are maintained.”  52 U.S.C. § 20501(b)(3), (b)(4).   

54. When a State law or regulation “stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and 

execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress,” it is preempted.  Columbia Venture, 

LLC v. Dewberry & Davis, LLC, 604 F.3d 824, 829-30 (4th Cir. 2010) (quoting Freightliner Corp. 

v. Myrick, 514 U.S. 280, 287 (1995)); see also U.S. Const. art. VI.  

55. Unlike other areas of federal law, legislation enacted pursuant to the Elections 

Clause of the U.S. Constitution such as the NVRA operates against state law on its own terms and 
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without any presumption against preemption. Jud. Watch, Inc. v. Lamone, 399 F. Supp. 3d 425, 

444 (D. Md. 2019).  

56. Maryland law allows individuals to use voter registration records for any non-

commercial purpose that is “related to the electoral process.”  Md. Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii). 

57. The Use Restriction’s express exclusion of “investigations” from its definition of 

the statutory term “electoral process” proscribes the use of voter lists in conducting non-

commercial election-related canvassing activities, even if such communications are in furtherance 

of the NVRA’s express purpose of ensuring the accuracy and integrity of the voter rolls.   

58. By prohibiting Plaintiffs from using voter lists for any investigatory activities 

(including non-commercial election-related canvassing communications) concerning potential 

inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in Maryland’s voter registration rolls, the Use Restriction 

obstructs the effectuation of Section 8(i) of the NVRA, and accordingly is preempted. 

59. Alternatively, if and to the extent that the Use Restriction’s exclusion of 

investigations from its definition of “electoral process” is required by or implicit in the use of that 

term in Md. Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2), that statute is preempted to the extent it prohibits 

Plaintiffs from using voter lists for investigatory activities (including non-commercial election-

related canvassing communications) concerning potential inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in 

Maryland’s voter registration rolls.   

60. The NVRA authorizes any “aggrieved person” to bring an action for declaratory or 

injunctive relief to remedy a violation of the NVRA.  See 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b). 

61. As a condition precedent to initiating suit, an aggrieved person must provide 

“written notice of the violation to the chief election official of the State involved.”  52 U.S.C. § 

20510(a)(1). An aggrieved person is then entitled to bring a civil action in federal district court 
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with respect to the violation if the violation is not corrected within 90 days after receipt of the 

notice. Id.at (a)(2). 

62. On September 27, 2023, and over 112 days ago, the Plaintiffs, through counsel, 

transmitted to all the Defendants a notice letter detailing the Plaintiffs’ position that the Use 

Restriction violates Section 8(i) of the NVRA.  See Exhibit 2. 

63. As of the date of this Complaint, the Defendants have not responded to the notice 

letter nor have they corrected the NVRA violation by repealing or materially amending the Use 

Restriction, or otherwise curing the Use Restriction’s violation of Section 8(i).  

64. Accordingly, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that the Use Restriction’s 

prohibition on the use of voter lists for any non-commercial investigatory purpose is preempted by 

Section 8(i) of the NVRA, and an injunction prohibiting its enforcement with respect to non-

commercial investigatory activities concerning potential inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in 

Maryland’s voter registration rolls. 

COUNT II 
Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 
65. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

66. Plaintiffs’ non-commercial election-related canvassing projects—which entail 

direct communications with voters in the course of investigating potential inaccuracies, errors or 

anomalies in Maryland’s voter registration rolls—are core political expressive and associational 

activities that are protected by the First Amendment, which the Fourteenth Amendment 

incorporates against state and local governments.  See generally Village of Schaumburg v. Citizens 

for a Better Env’t., 444 U.S. 620, 632 (1980).   
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67. The Use Restriction targets the use of voter lists for non-commercial investigatory 

communications if the message or objective of the investigation concerns “an illegal or suspected 

illegal infraction or violation involving the voter's behavior in a specific election.”  COMAR 

33.03.02.01(B)(1)(c).2  

68. The Use Restriction’s application accordingly is dependent on the viewpoint 

espoused by the speaker.  The Use Restriction precludes a canvasser whose message or objective 

concerns the State’s failure to identify potentially unlawful registrations from using registration 

records to communicate directly with voters.  But the Use Restriction apparently permits voter 

communications by canvassers who are investigating the State’s potential wrongful exclusion or 

removal of individuals from the voter rolls.   

69. In other words, the Use Restriction apparently allows canvassers to use registration 

records to contact voters during the course of investigations if the canvasser’s message and 

objective is to establish that individuals have been improperly excluded from the voter rolls.  By 

contrast, the Use Restriction silences canvassers who espouse the opposite premise—i.e., that the 

voter rolls might include ineligible individuals or contain other evidence of potentially unlawful 

registration or voting activities.    

70. “In the realm of private speech or expression, government regulation may not favor 

one speaker over another.  Discrimination against speech because of its message is presumed to 

be unconstitutional.”  Rosenberger v. Rector and Visitors of Univ. of Va., 515 U.S. 819, 828 (1995) 

(citation omitted).     

 
2 It is not fully clear whether this sentence of the regulation defines the “investigations” that the 
Use Restriction prohibits or is intended as an illustrative example of a broader universe of 
prohibited “investigations.”   
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71. The Use Restriction is not narrowly tailored to advance any compelling state 

interest.  It permits the use of registration records for unsolicited investigatory communications if 

the investigation’s message or objective concerns the potentially improper exclusion of eligible 

individuals from the voter rolls, but it prohibits the same activity if the investigation’s message or 

objective concerns the potentially improper inclusion of ineligible individuals or the existence of 

potentially unlawful voting activity.   

72. Plaintiffs have never used, and do not intend to use, voter lists to directly or 

indirectly harass, threaten, intimidate or otherwise harm any third party. 

73. In enacting and enforcing the Use Restriction, the Defendants are acting under color 

of state law.   

74. Accordingly, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that the Use Restriction’s 

prohibition on the use of voter lists for non-commercial canvassing if the investigation’s message 

or objective relates to “an illegal or suspected illegal infraction or violation involving the voter’s 

behavior in a specific election”  violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution, and an injunction prohibiting its enforcement with respect to Plaintiffs’ non-

commercial investigatory activities concerning potential inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in 

Maryland’s voter registration rolls. 

COUNT III 
Ultra Vires 

 
75. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

76. This Count is brought under Maryland state law pursuant to the Court’s 

supplemental jurisdiction granted by 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

Case 1:24-cv-00172-EA   Document 1   Filed 01/18/24   Page 16 of 19



 17 

77. Maryland law allows any person to obtain and use voter lists for any non-

commercial “purpose . . . related to the electoral process.”  Md. Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii). 

78. The SBE may, in consultation with local boards of election, adopt regulations 

governing certain aspects of the process of requesting and obtaining voter lists—namely: (a) the 

time in which a list must be provided, (b) required authorizations that must precede issuance of a 

list, (c) fees to be paid by requestors, (d) the types of information to be included on a list, (e) 

restrictions on the release of certain registrants’ residential addresses, (f) the format of information 

included in a list, and (g) the medium or media on which list information is provided.  See Md. 

Election Law § 3-506(a)(2). 

79. This statutory grant of authority does not include a power to independently define 

or interpret the term “electoral process.”  See Md. Election Law § 3-506(a)(2).   

80. To the extent it purports to define or interpret the term “electoral process,” the Use 

Restriction exceeds and is inconsistent with the statutory authority conferred on the SBE by Md. 

Election Law § 3-506(a)(2). 

81. In addition, non-commercial election-related investigatory activities relating to 

potential inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in Maryland’s voter registration rolls are, as a matter of 

law, for a “purpose . . . related to the electoral process,” within the meaning of Md. Election Law 

§ 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2).   

82. Even if the SBE possesses statutory authority to define or interpret the term 

“electoral process,” the denotation contained in the Use Restriction is inconsistent with, and 

violative of, Md. Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2) to the extent it excludes non-commercial 

election-related investigations concerning potential inaccuracies, errors, or anomalies in 

Maryland’s voter registration rolls. 
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83. In enacting and enforcing the Use Restriction regulation, the SBE has acted 

arbitrarily, unreasonably, and beyond its statutory authority granted by the Maryland General 

Assembly. The Use Restriction is thus contrary to law and exceeds the SBE’s authority within the 

meaning of the Maryland State Administrative Procedure Act, Md. State Govt § 10-125. 

84. There is a live and justiciable controversy between the parties concerning whether 

the Use Restriction is a valid and lawful exercise of the SBE’s statutory authority.   

85. Accordingly, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that the Use Restriction is 

invalid under Maryland law, as well as an injunction prohibiting its enforcement, to the extent it 

excludes from its definition of the term “electoral process” investigations concerning potential 

inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in Maryland’s voter registration rolls. 

DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request relief in the following forms: 

A. A declaration pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and other applicable law that, to the extent it 

prohibits Plaintiffs from using voter lists for non-commercial investigatory activities 

(including but not limited to canvassing) concerning potential inaccuracies, errors, or 

anomalies in Maryland’s voter registration rolls, the Use Restriction is (1) preempted by 

Section 8(i) of the NVRA, (2) violative of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution, and/or (3) not authorized by, preempted by, or is inconsistent 

with, Md. Election Law § 3-506 and violative of Md. State Govt § 10-125; 

B. An injunction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65 and other applicable law prohibiting 

enforcement of the Use Restriction against Plaintiffs to the extent Plaintiffs use voter lists 

for non-commercial investigatory activities (including but not limited to canvassing) 
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concerning potential inaccuracies, errors or anomalies in Maryland’s voter registration 

rolls; 

C. An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 20510(c), 42 

U.S.C. § 1988, and other applicable law; and 

D. Such other relief as the Court deems necessary, equitable, proper, or just.   

 

DATED this 18th day of January, 2024.   

 
/s/J. Justin Riemer    
J. Justin Riemer (No. 30943) 
RIEMER LAW LLC 
1125 West Street, Suite 200 
Annapolis, MD 21401 
Tel: (443) 266-2937 
justin@riemer.law  

 
Kory Langhofer (Ariz. Bar No. 024722)* 
Thomas Basile (Ariz. Bar No. 031150)* 
STATECRAFT PLLC 
649 North Fourth Avenue, First Floor 
Phoenix, Arizona 85003 
Tel: (602) 382-4078 
kory@statecraftlaw.com 
tom@statecraftlaw.com   
*Applications for admission pro hac vice 
forthcoming 
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State of Maryland    
Application for Voter Registration Data  

 

For Office Use Only: Filled By: ___________________________  Date: _________________ 
Applicant’s Voter Reg Num: __________________________________   Total Fee:  _______________  
Total Deposit Received: _________________  Date Remainder Paid: _________________________________ 

Revised 2023.09.20  

1 

1. Provide Applicant Information  

Name: _____________________________________________________________  
Best Phone #: ____________________ 
Residential Address: 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
City: _________________________    State: __________      Zip Code: __________    Registered in 
____________________ (County/City) 

2. Provide Organization Information (Required if you are buying data on behalf of an organization) 

Name of Entity: __________________________________________________  
Company Contact: _________________________ 
Address: 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
City: _________________________  State:  __  Zip Code: __________  Best Phone #:____________________ 

3. Indicate Region of Data Needed (Check one. Price is per report selected.) 

 Statewide ($125)  Single County or Baltimore City ($75) - Specify: ______________________________ 
 Single District ($75) - Specify District Type:______________________________  

District Number:__________    

4. Indicate Type of List Needed (See next page for file details.  Check all that apply) 

 Walking List (Not available Statewide.) 
 Mail-In List for a single election.  Specify election:  ______________________________ 
 Permanent Mail-In Applicant List 
 Provisional List for a single election. Specify election:  ______________________________ 
 Early Voting List for a single election.  Specify election:  ______________________________ 
 Registered Voter List  

      Voting History (up to 10 elections):  Included in Voter List (Only 5 elections)  Separate from Voter List  
Specify Election Types:  Gubernatorial Primary  Gubernatorial General  Presidential Primary  

Presidential General 
Specify Election Years: 2022  2018  2014  2010  2006     
       2024   2020  2016 2012   2008 

5. Limit the Type of Voters to Include on List (Check all that apply) 

 Only Active Voters                         Specific Registration Date Range ______________________________ 
                                                 OR          Specific Party(ies) ______________________________  
                                                                All Registered Voters of All Parties, including inactive voters 
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State of Maryland    
Application for Voter Registration Data  

 
 

 
FAX (410) 974- 2019               P.O. Box 6486 
MD Relay Service (800) 735-2258   http://elections.maryland.gov               151 West Street Suite 200 
Toll Free Phone Number (800) 222-8683       Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
 

6. Choose Delivery Method (files are usually too large to send by email)       

  File Transfer (FTP) (no additional fee)     Provide Email: ___________________________________  
  On Flash Drive (add $1.75 fee)- Specify:  Will Pick Up  Mail to Applicant (add $15 fee)   
 Mail to Organization (add $15 fee)  
 Mail to Other (add $15 fee, Specify):  

 
Address: __________________________________________________ 
City: _________________________State:  __ Zip Code: __________ 
 
    

7. Read Statement and Sign Oath 

Under the penalties of perjury, I declare that no part of any list requested by this application is intended to 
be used for commercial solicitation or for any other purpose that is not related to the electoral process. 
 
I am aware that if I or any other person who has a registration list under his or her control knowingly allows 
any part of this list to be used for commercial solicitation or for any other purpose that is not related to the 
electoral process*, that individual is guilty of a misdemeanor and, on conviction, subject to imprisonment for 
not less than 30 days or more than 6 months, to a fine of up to $250, or to both imprisonment and fine. 
 
I, __________________________________________________ (print or type name), have read and 
understand the above statement and agree to pay the balance due upon receipt of the voter registration 
list. 
 
_______________________________________    ____________________________ 
Applicant’s Signature         Date 
 
 
*As defined in COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) “electoral process” means the system established by the Maryland 
Constitution, Election Law Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, and regulations of the State Board, by 
which a person is elected to a public office or by which voters express a preference on a ballot question. 
“Electoral process” includes, but is not limited to, using data to register voters, form a political party, qualify 
as a candidate for public office, circulate a petition, conduct elections and recount, cast and count ballots, 
and finance a campaign. “Electoral process” does not include investigations into illegal or suspected illegal 
infractions or violations of voters’ behaviors in a specific election. 
 
Qualifications: To apply for a voter registration list, the applicant must sign a statement, under penalty of 
perjury, that the list is not intended to be used for purposes of commercial solicitation or any other purpose 
not related to the electoral process. (Election Law Article, §3-506, Annotated Code of Maryland and COMAR 
33.03.02.03A and 33.03.02.04)  
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State of Maryland    
Application for Voter Registration Data  

 

For Office Use Only: Filled By: ___________________________  Date: _________________ 
Applicant’s Voter Reg Num: __________________________________   Total Fee:  _______________  
Total Deposit Received: _________________  Date Remainder Paid: _________________________________ 

Revised 2023.09.20  

3 

Application Deadline: Before any election, neither the State Administrator nor any election director may 
respond to an application for a voter registration list unless the application was filed on or before the 
advanced registration deadline.  Applications received after that date shall be returned. (COMAR 
33.03.02.05B) 
 
Delivery: Requests will be turned around within 10 working days from the time SBE receives the application.  
Output may be picked up from the State Board office, mailed to the applicant, or provided via FTP. To 
ensure delivery, provide contact information as indicated on the application. 
 
Cost:    Statewide Lists: $125.00 each, County Lists: $75.00 each, District Lists: $75.00 each 

Set-Up fee:  $3.00 (waived if delivered via FTP) 
 

Payment: Payment-in-full must accompany this application. Payment can be in the form of credit card, 
certified check, personal or campaign check or money order.  Make checks payable to: Maryland State 
Board of Elections. All returned checks will be assessed with a fee of $30.00. 
 
File Format: All files except the Walking List are tab separated text files with no text-delimiter. This format is 
easily imported into Microsoft products; however, statewide data files are (and some district files may be) 
too large to read in Excel or Access. 
 
Disclaimer: The Maryland State Board of Elections and local boards of elections do not guarantee that the data requested will be 
compatible with all software programs. The applicant will utilize his/her own software to import this data to his/her database. 
Technical support and special data formats are not provided. 
 
File Details: 
Walking List:  the walking list is a PDF (uneditable) file generated by precinct and sorted by street address.  
Under each street address is listed all the voters who live in that address and their political party.  It is 
designed for walking up and down the streets, with even addresses in the left column and odd on the right.  
It is not available Statewide; however, the data is in the Registered Voter List. 

Mail-In Applicants List:  Text file containing a list of voters with mail-in ballot requests for the given election.  
It includes voter ID, name, residential address, mailing address, absentee ballot address, precinct, district 
information, state and county registration dates, party, mail-in type, mail-in request status, and county. 
Actual mail-in VOTERS are on voter history lists. 

Permanent Mail-In Applicant List: Text file containing a list of voters with mail-in ballot requests for any 
future election. It includes voter ID, name, residential address, mailing address, absentee ballot address, 
precinct, district information, state and county registration dates, party, mail-in type, mail-in requests status, 
and county. Not every voter on this list will qualify for every election. Actual mail-in voters are on voter 
history lists. 

Early Voting List:  Text file listing voters who voted at an early voting location for a given election.  It includes 
voter ID, name, early voting location, date of voting, party, residential address (in one column), mailing 
address (in one column), ballot style, precinct, and gender.  This information is already on the voter history 
lists. 
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State of Maryland    
Application for Voter Registration Data  

 
 

 
FAX (410) 974- 2019               P.O. Box 6486 
MD Relay Service (800) 735-2258   http://elections.maryland.gov               151 West Street Suite 200 
Toll Free Phone Number (800) 222-8683       Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
 

Registered Voters List:  Text file containing a list of registered voters with voter ID, name, party, gender, 
residential address, mailing address, status (active or inactive), state and county registration dates, split and 
precinct, congressional district, legislative district, councilmanic district, ward, municipal district, 
commissioner district and county.   

Voting History Included in Registered Voter List:  Text file identical to the registered voter list EXCEPT:  some 
columns are in a different order, it does not have a column for county or commissioner district, and there is 
a column for each election selected. This list is easy to view when opened in a spreadsheet format, but it 
gives no data on voting method or date. Statewide lists are limited to 5 elections. 

Voting History as Separate File from Registered Voter List:  The Voting History file contains the following 
columns:  voter ID, election date, election description, election type, party, election code, voting method, 
date of voting, precinct, early voting location, jurisdiction code, county name.  To match each record in this 
file to a registered voter, use the Voter ID column in the Registered Voter List.  This file is for technically 
savvy individuals. 

Provisional List: Text file listing voters who were issued a provisional ballot. It includes voter ID, name, 
residential address, mailing address, precinct, legislative district, congressional district, councilmanic district, 
commissioner district, school zone, state and county registration dates, party, voted date, provisional status, 
provisional status reason, county voted in, polling place precinct, ballot issue reason, ballot style required, 
and ballot style voted. 

Contact Person: Erin Dennis 410-269-2867 or email: erin.dennis@maryland.gov 
    Joanna Benjamin 410-269-2901 or email: joanna.benjamin@maryland.gov 
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September 27, 2023  

Michael G. Summers, Chairman 
William G. Voelp, Vice Chairman 
Carlos Ayala 
Janet Millenson 
Yaakov Weissmann 
Maryland State Board of Elections 
151 West Street, Suite 200 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
info.sbe@maryland.gov 
 
Jared DeMarinis, State Administrator of Elections 
151 West Street, Suite 200 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
jared.demarinis@maryland.gov 
 
Frederick Brechbiel, Chief Information Officer 
151 West Street, Suite 200 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
fred.brechbiel@maryland.gov 
 
VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND EMAIL  
 

Re: Notice of Claim 

To the State Board of Elections and Administrator DeMarinis: 

We, in association with Justin Riemer of Riemer Law LLC, represent Katherine Strauch Sullivan and David 
Morsberger, both of whom are residents of, and registered voters in, the State of Maryland.  This letter 
constitutes a notice of claim pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b).  By conditioning, through its recent 
amendments to 33.03.02.01B of the Code of Maryland Regulations (“COMAR”), access to and use of 
Maryland’s voter registration list only for purposes that the State Board of Elections (“SBE”) deems related 
to the “electoral process,” the SBE has wrongfully denied access to voter registration records that are subject 
to mandatory disclosure by the federal National Voter Registration Act, 52 U.S.C. § 20501, et seq. (“NVRA”). 
SBE has further wrongfully conditioned disclosure of the registration records on the requestor signing a sworn 
certification that he or she will not use the records for purposes that are both expressly and fairly contemplated 
by the NVRA. And, independent of the unlawful oath, SBE also exceeds its legal authority by subjecting 
requestors to criminal liability for using the list for purposes the NVRA permits.     
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In addition, the SBE’s newly promulgated definition of “electoral process” in COMAR section 
33.03.02.01B(1) is defective for the independent reasons that (1) the SBE lacks any authority, statutory or 
otherwise, to unilaterally redefine the statutory prerequisites governing access to the voter registration list and 
to expand the types of uses that constitute a criminal violation; (2) it unlawfully excludes activities and 
communications that are, in fact, “related to the electoral process,” within the meaning of Md. Code, Election 
Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2); and (3) it unduly burdens expressive and associational activities protected by the First 
and Fourteenth Amendments.   
 

I. Factual Background 
 
Maryland law permits any “Maryland registered voter” to obtain a copy of the state’s registration rolls upon 
certifying under oath that the information will not be used for a “commercial solicitation” or for “any other 
purpose not related to the electoral process.”  Md. Code, Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii). Maryland law also 
imposes misdemeanor criminal penalties for “a person who knowingly allows a list of registered voters…to 
be used for any purpose not related to the electoral process.” Id. at (c). Although the General Assembly has 
neither defined the term “electoral process” nor licensed the SBE to do so, the SBE adopted on June 20, 
2023, an amendment to the COMAR that denotes the term as follows: 
 

(a) “Electoral process” means the system established by the Maryland Constitution, Election 
Law Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, and regulations of the State Board, by which 
a person is elected to a public office or by which voters express a preference on a ballot 
question. 

 
(b) “Electoral process” includes, but is not limited to registering voters, forming political 

parties, qualifying as a candidate for public office, petitioning candidates or questions to 
the ballot, drafting and publishing ballot questions, conducting elections, casting ballots, 
canvassing ballots, recounting an election, and financing a campaign. 

 
(c) “Electoral process” does not include investigations. The use of a voter registration list to 

contact an individual voter as part of an investigation into an illegal or suspected illegal 
infraction or violation involving the voter's behavior in a specific election is not a 
"purpose… related to the electoral process" as those terms are used in Election Law 
Article, §3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2), Annotated Code of Maryland. 

 
COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1). 
 
Shortly thereafter, the SBE revised the affidavit form that persons seeking a copy of the voter registration list 
must execute.  The new form includes an averment that the requestor will use the data only for “activities that 
meet the definition of ‘electoral process’ as defined in COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1),” and disavows uses “for 
investigations into an illegal or suspected illegal infractions or violations of voters’ behaviors in a specific 
election.”1 
  

	
1  Two ancillary points merit mention.  First, the phrase “violations of voters’ behavior” makes neither 
grammatical nor logical sense.  Second, the COMAR provision that governs the content of the requestor 
affidavit has never been amended to mandate this certification.  See COMAR 33.03.02.04.   
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On September 21, 2023, Mr. Morsberger submitted to the SBE a request for the current statewide voter 
registration list, with the affidavit averments derived from the amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) crossed-
out.  On September 27, 2023, the SBE rejected his request, stating that “the application must be signed without 
any redactions.”  See Exhibit A.  On September 25, 2023, Ms. Sullivan inquired of the Baltimore County Board 
of Elections how to obtain a statewide voter registration list, given that the county’s standard affidavit form 
had not been updated to reflect the amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1).  On September 26, 2023, the 
Baltimore County Board of Elections informed Ms. Sullivan that she would be required to use the amended 
affidavit in order to obtain the list.  See Exhibit B.   
 
Ms. Sullivan and Mr. Morsberger have used, and intend in the future to use, the statewide voter registration 
list in connection with various non-commercial canvassing activities.  These canvassing projects have 
occasionally entailed cross-checking certain data (e.g., address information or voting history) in the registration 
list by contacting the voter or individuals residing at the address where the voter is registered and asking him 
or her to verify the information on file.   
 

II. Legal Claims 
 

A. COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1)’s Restrictions on List Distribution and Use Are Preempted by the 
NVRA 

 
By withholding voter registration lists unless a requestor forfeits his right to use the information for any 
purpose that it not “related” to the SBE’s definition of the “electoral process,” COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) 
contravenes, and is preempted by, the NVRA.  Section 8(i) of the NVRA mandates that: 
 

Each State shall maintain for at least 2 years and shall make available for public inspection and, 
where available, photocopying at a reasonable cost, all records concerning the implementation 
of programs and activities conducted for the purpose of ensuring the accuracy and currency 
of official lists of eligible voters, except to the extent that such records relate to a declination 
to register to vote or to the identity of a voter registration agency through which any particular 
voter is registered. 

 
52 U.S.C. § 20507(i)(1).  Voter registrations—both individualized applications and aggregated lists—are 
among the records to which Section 8(i) guarantees a right of public access.  See Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Lamone, 
399 F. Supp. 3d 425, 440-41 (D. Md. 2019) [“Lamone I”] (holding that Maryland’s voter registration list is 
subject to Section 8(i)); see also Project Vote/Voting for Am., Inc. v. Long, 682 F.3d 331, 336 (4th Cir. 2012) 
(concluding that Section 8(i) “unmistakably encompasses completed voter registration applications”).  
Importantly, Section 8(i) supersedes contrary state laws that constrain citizens from using registration records 
for purposes that the NVRA protects.  In purporting to prohibit citizens from using voter registration data 
for legitimate investigative and oversight purposes protected by the NVRA, COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) 
obstructs controlling federal law, and hence is preempted.   
 
To the extent the SBE’s justification for its edict is that Section 8(i) safeguards only access to—as distinguished 
from the use of—voter registration records, such a distinction is doctrinally unsound and logically 
unsustainable.  Access encompasses the ability both to actually obtain records and to use them freely—at least 
for purposes that are protected by the NVRA.   The mere physical availability of registration records, as an 
end in itself, is nugatory; rather, availability is innately and invariably a means to carry out some specific use.  
To posit that Section 8(i) protects only the ability to view or possess a registration record—but not to do 
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anything with it—reduces what Congress intended to be a robust mechanism for State accountability to a 
pointless abstraction.  See Greater Birmingham Ministries v. Merrill, 2:22CV205-MHT, 2022 WL 5027180, at *5 
(M.D. Ala. Oct. 4, 2022) (noting that “the right to access voter records serves as a necessary foundation for a 
broad array of opportunities to engage and to make use of those records as the requesting party sees fit”); 
Illinois Conservative Union v. Illinois, 20 C 5542, 2021 WL 2206159, at *7 (N.D. Ill. June 1, 2021) (declining to 
dismiss claim that state’s statutory prohibition on photocopying registration records “conflicts with Section 
8(i) and frustrates the NVRA’s purpose”).   
 
Recognizing the untenability of any construction of Section 8(i) that severs access from use, a federal court 
recently invalidated a Maine law that prohibited requestors of voter lists from using the information “for any 
purpose that is not directly related to evaluating the State’s compliance with its voter list maintenance 
obligations,” or making voter-identifying information “accessible by the general public on the Internet or 
through other means.”  Pub. Interest Found., Inc. v. Bellows, No. 1:20-cv-00061-GZS, 2023 WL 2663827, at *3 
(D. Me. Mar. 28, 2023) (quoting 21-M.R.S.A. § 196-A(1)(J)).  Emphasizing that Congress aspired in enacting 
the NVRA to “‘protect the integrity of the electoral process’ and ‘ensure that accurate and current voter 
registration rolls are maintained,’” id. at *5, the court reasoned that Maine’s encumbrances on Section 8(i)’s 
right of access obstructed this legislative objective, id. at *7.  It accordingly concluded that Section 8(i) “does 
not allow a state to impose these restrictions” on a requestor’s use of voter lists.  Id. 
 
The same impermissible restriction on protected investigatory activities afflicts COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1).  
Even assuming (but not conceding) that the statutory caveat that voter lists may not be used for any “purpose 
not related to the electoral process,” Md. Code, Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2), is facially consistent with 
Section 8(i), the SBE’s ostensible implementation of it in COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) (and the attendant revised 
affidavit form) is not.  Congress did not camouflage the intentions undergirding the NVRA.  Section 8(i) 
empowers citizens to fulfill the express purposes of the NVRA to enhance electoral integrity, particularly with 
respect to the accuracy of registration rolls, by obtaining those rolls and independently analyzing them to 
identify inaccuracies and other errors.  In this vein, “investigation into an illegal or suspected illegal infraction 
or violation” of voting or registration laws prohibited by COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1)(c) is not a purpose that is 
inimical or extraneous to Section 8(i); to the contrary, it is precisely the activity that Congress desired to 
safeguard and promote.   
 
Irrespective of whether the SBE deems our clients’ canvassing projects to be worthwhile, see generally Judicial 
Watch, Inc. v. Lamone, 455 F. Supp. 3d 209, 225 (D. Md. 2020) [“Lamone II”] (noting that a requestor “need not 
demonstrate its need for [the requested] information in order to facilitate its effort to ensure that the voter 
rolls are properly maintained”), COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1)’s obstructive effect on their NVRA-protected 
investigatory activities is obvious.  To use one example (which has a basis in our clients’ past canvassing 
experiences), assume that review of a voter list indicates that a given individual recently voted for the first 
time, despite having been on the rolls for many years.  Upon being contacted, the individual states that she 
actually had not cast a ballot in that election.  That representation (if accurate) may evidence flaws or 
vulnerabilities in the State’s registration or recordkeeping practices.   
 
In short, Ms. Sullivan and Mr. Morsberger have sustained two variations of the same legal wrong.  As an initial 
matter, their access to the statewide voter list has been impeded in a literal sense.  And even if Mr. Morsberger 
or Ms. Sullivan ultimately is able to physically obtain a copy of the list, their right of access remains functionally 
extinguished because the SBE has forbidden them—under the threat of criminal penalties—from engaging in 
exactly the activities Congress intended to protect.   
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Contact with individual voters is intrinsically intertwined with broader investigations of the State’s list 
maintenance practices and policies.  By thwarting and chilling wide swaths of legitimate and good faith 
inquiries, COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) vitiates a central pillar of the NVRA.  It accordingly is preempted and 
invalid. 
 
For these reasons, we request that, no later than 90 days after receipt of this letter, you repeal COMAR 
33.03.02.01B(1)’s purported definition of “electoral process,” and remove from the requestor affidavit form 
the new averments derived from that provision.  If you fail to do so, our clients intend to seek judicial remedies 
to vindicate their rights under the NVRA.   
 
If or to the extent a court determines that COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) is consistent with or required by Election 
Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii), which it is not as explained infra, our clients intend to pursue a claim that the statutory 
provision likewise is preempted by the NVRA. 
 

B. The SBE Has No Authority To Adopt COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) 
 
COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) is unenforceable for the independent reason that the SBE has no authority to 
impose its own substantive limitations or preconditions on the obtainment of voter lists.  The only statutory 
conditions precedent to the procurement of a voter lists are the submission of (1) “a written application” and 
(2) a sworn statement promising not to use voter data for “commercial solicitation” or “any other purpose 
not related to the electoral process.”  Md. Code, Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii).  The General Assembly has 
permitted the SBE to regulate only the procedural and logistical attributes of the list preparation process, such 
as the deadline for fulfilling requests, the format of a list, and the assessment of a fee.  Id. § 3-506(a)(2).  
Nothing in this short catalogue of discrete authorizations licenses the SBE to unilaterally promulgate and 
enforce its own freewheeling understanding of key statutory terms, especially when it broadens the scope of 
prohibited activities that could subject our clients and others to criminal prosecution.      
 

C. The Amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) Conflicts with Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii) 
 
Even assuming arguendo that the SBE may independently define the term “electoral process,” the formulation 
codified in the amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B(1) is incompatible with the underlying statute, Election Law 
§ 3-506(a)(1)(ii).  See generally Dept. of Human Res., Baltimore City Dept. of Social Servs. v. Hayward, 45 A.3d 224, 236 
(Md. 2012) (emphasizing that agency regulations “must be consistent, and not in conflict, with the statute the 
regulations are intended to implement.  We have consistently had that the statute must control.”).   
 
The General Assembly has expressly permitted any person who obtains a voter list to use the information for 
any non-commercial purpose “related to the electoral process.”  Md. Code, Election Law § 3-506(a)(1)(ii)(2).  
The amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B, however, purports to prohibit various actions and activities that are, in 
fact, very much “related to the electoral process.”  The “electoral process” denotes “1. The method by which 
a person is elected to public office in a democratic society.  2. The taking and counting of votes.”  Fusaro v. 
Howard, 19 F.4th 357, 372 (4th Cir. 2021) (quoting BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019)).  Investigations 
into potential errors or fraud in particular voter registrations or ballot submissions are—inevitably and 
definitionally—related to both the “method” of electing public officials and “the taking and counting of 
votes.”  Accordingly, the amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B is facially inconsistent with the controlling statute.  
And even assuming that the amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B is found to comport with Election Law § 3-
506(a)(1)(ii)(2), then the statutory provision would itself be impliedly preempted by Section 8(i) of the NVRA.  
See supra Section II.A.   
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D. The Amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B Unduly Burdens First Amendment Rights 

 
Finally, the SBE’s inventive and artificially restrictive definition of “electoral process” unconstitutionally 
infringes expressive and associational rights protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. 
Constitution.  To be sure, the Fourth Circuit has held, in a different context, that Election Law § 3-
506(a)(1)(ii)’s “electoral process” limitation did not, facially or as applied to one set of particular plaintiffs, 
violate the First Amendment.  See Fusaro, 19 F.4th at 368.  Those conclusions, however, were predicated in 
part on the court’s broad conception of “electoral process,” which comported with the term’s “common 
sense” dictionary definition.  See id. at 370, 372.  By contrast, the SBE’s highly constrictive conception of the 
same term inflicts a correspondingly more substantial burden on our clients’ constitutionally protected 
canvassing activities.  In addition, we believe discovery may reveal that the amended COMAR 33.03.02.01B 
was, even if facially neutral, precipitated by a targeting of certain groups based on their actual or perceived 
partisan or ideological orientation.  See generally Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 164 (2015) (strict scrutiny 
applies to laws that, “though facially content neutral . . . were adopted by the government ‘because of 
disagreement with the message [the speech] conveys’” (citation omitted)).  Our clients accordingly reserve all 
rights to pursue claims arising out of the First and Fourteenth Amendments, or any other applicable provision 
of the United States or Maryland constitutions.   
 
Thank you for your attention to this important matter.    
 

Respectfully, 

/s/ Kory Langhofer    
Kory Langhofer 
 

/s/ Thomas Basile    
Thomas Basile 
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From: Erin Dennis -SBE- <erin.dennis@maryland.gov> 
Date: September 27, 2023 at 09:21:55 EDT 
To: David Morsberger <dave@morsberger.com> 
Cc: Joanna Benjamin -SBE- <joanna.benjamin@maryland.gov>, Brett Paradise -SBE- 
<brett.paradise@maryland.gov> 
Subject: Request for Voter Registration Data 

Hi, David.  
 
In order to fulfill the request, the application must be signed without any redactions. Please 
complete the attached copy and resend. Please note, that the substance of the statement and 
oath on the application have not changed, but changes have been made to the form and 
language of the oath. 
 
Thanks! 
 
Erin W. Dennis 
Maryland State Board of Elections 
151 West Street, Suite 200 
P.O. Box 6486 
Annapolis, Maryland 21401 
(P) 410.269.2928 | 410.279.3386 
(P) 800.222.8683 

(F) 410.974.5415  
http://www.elections.maryland.gov/ 
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---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: Ruie LaVoie <rlavoie@baltimorecountymd.gov> 
Date: Tue, Sep 26, 2023 at 4:00 PM 
Subject: RE: New Data 
To: Kate Strauch Sullivan <kate@sullyland.com> 
  

Hi Kate, 
  
I can’t agree to the use of the previous form as the requirements charged with new state 
regulations. If you came to the office with the previous form, we would have had to ask 
you to sign the new form before processing the request.  There was a delay in the website 
update however, the correct form was and is available in our office.  I understand your 
position and will continue to follow-up in relaying to the State Board. Please understand 
that I must follow State Regulations. 
  
All the best, 
Ruie 
  
From: Kate Strauch Sullivan <kate@sullyland.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, September 26, 2023 1:34 PM 
To: Ruie LaVoie <rlavoie@baltimorecountymd.gov> 
Subject: Re: New Data 
  
CAUTION: This message from kate@sullyland.com originated from a non Baltimore County Government or non 
BCPL email system. Hover over any links before clicking and use caution opening attachments.  
  
Thank you Ruie. 
Would it be ok if I just signed the old form? I'm a bit worried about the new oath language from the 
State. 
Could we just process with the old form? I can drop it off tomorrow when I come for tomorrow's 
meeting. 
  
Please advise. 
  
Kate 
 

“The truth is like a lion; you don’t have to defend it. Set it free; it will defend itself.” 
  
  
  
On Tue, Sep 26, 2023 at 1:21 PM Ruie LaVoie <rlavoie@baltimorecountymd.gov> wrote: 
Hi Kate, 
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I hope you are doing well.  The website is updated with the new form. I so appreciate you 
bringing that to my attention. I also attached a copy for your convenience.  
  
Also attached is the flier we distributed at the Central Committee meeting. There will be 
an updated version once the early voting locations are established for 2024. 
  
Please let me know if you need anything else or if I can be of assistance. Have a wonderful 
afternoon! 
  
All the best, 
Ruie 
  
From: Kate Strauch Sullivan <kate@sullyland.com>  
Sent: Monday, September 25, 2023 5:42 PM 
To: Ruie LaVoie <rlavoie@baltimorecountymd.gov> 
Subject: New Data 
  
CAUTION: This message from kate@sullyland.com originated from a non Baltimore County Government or non 
BCPL email system. Hover over any links before clicking and use caution opening attachments.  
  
Good Evening Ruie, 
I'm preparing to purchase a new round of data and I noticed the BC BOE paperwork does not match that 
of the State BOE. The oath at the bottom of their paperwork is not the same as the oath at the bottom 
of Baltimore County BOE paperwork. I just want to be sure I fill out the proper paperwork and fully 
understand what I'm signing. 
  
Also, do you have the Election Flyer you handed out at our Central Committee meeting? I think it's a 
great piece to hand out in preparation for the upcoming election and I'd love a digital copy of it. 
  
Thanks and see you Wednesday. 
  
Kate 
 

“The truth is like a lion; you don’t have to defend it. Set it free; it will defend itself.” 
  
CONNECT WITH BALTIMORE COUNTY  

       

www.baltimorecountymd.gov  

  
 

Case 1:24-cv-00172-EA   Document 1-2   Filed 01/18/24   Page 12 of 12


	1
	1-1
	1. Provide Applicant Information
	2. Provide Organization Information (Required if you are buying data on behalf of an organization)
	3. Indicate Region of Data Needed (Check one. Price is per report selected.)
	4. Indicate Type of List Needed (See next page for file details.  Check all that apply)
	5. Limit the Type of Voters to Include on List (Check all that apply)
	6. Choose Delivery Method (files are usually too large to send by email)
	7. Read Statement and Sign Oath

	1-2

